## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### DOCKET NO. 20-0234

#### STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Plaintiff Below, Respondent,

On Certified Questions from the Circuit Court of Monongalia County (Case No.: 20-F-105)

v.

TIMOTHY MICHAEL CONNER, II,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF

## Submitted by:

Jared T. Moore (WV State Bar No. 11988)
The Moore Law Firm, PLLC
62A High Street
Morgantown, WV 26505
(304) 668-5430
jared.moore35@gmail.com
Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court on two certified questions concerning the constitutionality of W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b), titled "Failure to Render Aid." That code section, which was enacted in 2017, reads in whole:

Any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical assistance for such other person when the other person suffers an overdose of the controlled substance or suffers a significant adverse physical reaction to the controlled substance and the overdose or adverse physical reaction proximately causes the death of the other person, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned for not less than one year nor more than five years.

The circuit court concluded that the statute is unconstitutionally vague because it first fails to identify the type of person to which it applies. Does the statute apply to individuals who are personally using a controlled substance along with the overdoser! or does it apply to individuals who are not personally using a controlled substance but who are physically present with the overdoser? Upon further analysis of the statute, the circuit court secondly found that the undefined phrase "seek medical assistance" fails to provide adequate standards for adjudication and invites

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Petitioner acknowledges that that W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) identifies the victim as another person who "suffers an overdose of the controlled substance" or another person who "suffers a significant adverse physical reaction to the controlled substance." For simplicity and consistency, the Petitioner will refer to this individual as an "overdoser" throughout this Brief.

arbitrary enforcement due to the varying and subjective opinions on what type of conduct may constitute "seek medical assistance."

#### A. Statement of Facts<sup>2</sup>

On the evening of March 28, 2019, Shane Cebulak (hereinafter "Mr. Cebulak") drove his grandparents' vehicle to pick up the Petitioner. (App. 034, 166). After picking up the Petitioner, Mr. Cebulak drove to an apartment complex on Van Voorhis Road in Morgantown with the Petitioner riding as a passenger. (App. 034, 170). Mr. Cebulak went inside the apartment complex and purchased heroin from two unknown males, who were from Detroit, Michigan. *Id.* According to law enforcement, Mr. Cebulak was a known heroin user and had been purchasing heroin from the "Detroit crew" for quite some time prior to March 28, 2019. (App. 174).

The Petitioner did not go inside the apartment complex; rather, he stayed in the vehicle while Mr. Cebulak went inside and purchased the heroin. (App. 002, 034, 178). The Petitioner did not purchase heroin or any other controlled substance. *Id.* There is no allegation that the Petitioner supplied Mr. Cebulak with the heroin, paid for the heroin, provided Mr. Cebulak with transportation to the apartment complex, or assisted Mr. Cebulak in any manner in purchasing the heroin. (App. 028-038). Mr. Cebulak purchased the heroin on his own accord and for his own personal use. *Id.* 

After purchasing the heroin, Mr. Cebulak then drove to the District Apartments,<sup>3</sup> another apartment complex in Morgantown. (App. 034, 177-178). There in the parking lot, Mr. Cebulak smoked the heroin voluntarily. *Id.* The Petitioner did not assist, aid, or abet Mr. Cebulak in any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Based upon the procedural posture of this case, the *Statement of Facts* are derived from the information provided in the State's Discovery Disclosure and the testimony elicited at the preliminary hearing held on September 9, 2019.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The District Apartments are now named Campus Evolution Villages and are located on District Drive in Morgantown. (App. 034).

manner in using the heroin. *Id.* Critically important here, there is no allegation, much less any evidence, that the Petitioner ever used or was under the influence of a controlled substance during the applicable time period that he was with Mr. Cebulak in this case. (App. 028-038, 175, 185-186). Mr. Cebulak used the heroin freely and willingly. *Id.* The Petitioner did not. *Id.* 

At some point after smoking the heroin, the Petitioner indicated that Mr. Cebulak "began acting funny [like he was] possibly having a seizure." (App. 034, 170). In response, the Petitioner called Joseph Choma (hereinafter "Mr. Choma") – a friend that the Petitioner knew to be a nurse. *Id.* The Petitioner informed Mr. Choma that he believed Mr. Cebulak was overdosing and asked him to help Mr. Cebulak. *Id.* The Petitioner used Mr. Cebulak's grandparents' vehicle to drive him to Mr. Choma's residence, which was located on McLane Avenue in the Sunnyside area of Morgantown. *Id.* The Petitioner parked the vehicle in a gravel alley near Mr. Choma's residence and went inside. (App. 034, 171). Mr. Cebulak, who remained in the vehicle, was still alive and breathing at the time the Petitioner arrived at Mr. Choma's residence. *Id.* 

Mr. Choma telephoned his girlfriend, Amy Dolin (hereinafter "Ms. Dolin"), who was in South Carolina at the time. (App. 033, 035). Ms. Dolin called 911 to report an overdoes at McLane Avenue at approximately 8:55 p.m. (App. 057). The 911 dispatcher contacted Mr. Choma directly after speaking with Ms. Dolin. *Id.* Mr. Choma provided the following details to the 911 dispatcher:

- The person overdosing was in a white in color vehicle, which was parked in an alleyway behind Mr. Choma's residence, on the Grant Avenue side.
- The person was breathing, but appeared to be dying.
- The person was slumped over in the passenger seat.
- Mr. Choma could hear the person breathing, and it sounded like snoring.

Id.

Apparently, the 911 dispatcher instructed Mr. Choma to go back outside where the white vehicle was located. *Id.* When Mr. Choma went back outside, he advised the 911 dispatcher that he could no longer see the vehicle and it was unknown where it went. *Id.* Police, Fire, and EMS personnel arrived at McLane Avenue, but they were unable to locate the white in color vehicle or Mr. Cebulak. (App. 035, 057, 168). After speaking with emergency personnel, Mr. Choma went back inside his residence and informed the Petitioner that emergency personnel did not locate Mr. Cebulak. (App. 003, 008-009). Mr. Choma further informed the Petitioner that Mr. Cebulak must have "came to" and left. *Id.* Approximately two hours later, Mr. Choma took his dog outside for a walk and discovered Mr. Cebulak in the white vehicle parked in the alley. (App. 003, 035, 168). Mr. Choma called 911 and advised that he did not believe Mr. Cebulak was breathing. (App. 157). When emergency personnel arrived the second time, Mr. Cebulak was deceased in the vehicle. (App. 033).

On August 20, 2019, detectives with the Morgantown Police Department traveled to Harrison County to interrogate the Petitioner during his regularly scheduled meeting with his parole officer. (App. 003, 034). The detectives had an arrest warrant in hand, ready to execute on the Petitioner. (App. 034). In response to direct questioning, the Petitioner explained what happened on March 28, 2019. *Id.* The detectives repeatedly informed the Petitioner that it was a "shitty situation" and that he made the "wrong decision" to take Mr. Cebulak to Mr. Choma's residence. (App. 009). The detectives further criticized the Petitioner for not personally calling 911 himself or driving Mr. Choma directly to the hospital. *Id.* These events form the basis of the felony charge against the Petitioner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The arrest warrant was obtained 12 days before on August 8, 2019.

#### B. Procedural History

On August 20, 2019 – five months after the incident – the Petitioner was arrested for the felony offense of Failure to Render Aid. (App. 034). The Petitioner's parole was revoked based upon this charge. (App. 185). He has been incarcerated since August 20, 2019. *Id.* A preliminary hearing was held on September 9, 2019 in magistrate court. (App. 163). After the magistrate court found probable cause, the matter was bound over for presentation to a grand jury. (App. 181).

The Petitioner was indicted on January 10, 2020 and arraigned on January 21, 2020. (App. 024). On February 10, 2020, the Petitioner filed a *Motion to Dismiss Based Upon W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) Being Unconstitutionally Vague*. (App. 007-016). The State filed a response on February 20, 2020, arguing that "the assertions of the defendant regarding the specific language of the statute are more appropriately made in a closing argument to a jury." (App. 017-020). The Petitioner filed a reply to the State's response later the same day on February 20<sup>th</sup>. (App. 021-023). A hearing was held on February 21, 2020. (App. 184-190). The circuit court entered the *Order of Certification* on March 13, 2020. (App. 001-006).

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A criminal statue must identify illegal conduct with sufficient certainty, definiteness, and specificity to provide fair notice that the contemplated conduct is prohibited by law. It must also provide adequate standards for adjudication to avoid arbitrary enforcement. W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) does neither. Instead, it is cloaked in ambiguity. Individuals cannot be required to guess at the meaning of a statute, especially when a criminal penalty is involved.

"Any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another" is vague. Does it apply to individuals who are personally using a controlled substance with an overdoser? Or, does it apply to persons who are physically present with an overdoser but who are

not themselves personally using a controlled substance? The wording the Legislature chose is anything but clear. Based upon the statutory language, meritorious arguments can be made for each separate interpretation, which creates uncertainly in the category of person to which the statute applies.

The phrase "seek medical assistance" is undefined and, as a result, is problematic in its enforceability. What did the Legislature mean by requiring a person to "seek medical assistance" for another? Does an individual have to directly seek medical assistance by, for example, driving the overdoser to the hospital? Or, can an individual indirectly seek medical assistance by, for example, driving the overdoser to a third party who, in turn, contacts 911? By failing to define this critical phrase, the Legislature has left open to debate what is required under the statute to avoid criminal punishment.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This Court has set this matter for oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure during the September 2020 Term of Court.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Claims of unconstitutional vagueness in a criminal statute are derived from the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 10 of the West Virginia Constitution. See Syl. Pt. 3, State v. DeBerry, 185 W.Va. 512, 408 S.E.2d 91 (1991); State v. Bull, 204 W. Va. 255, 261, 512 S.E.2d 177, 183 (1998).

The Supreme Court of the United States has recognized that "[o]ur cases establish that the Government violates this guarantee by taking away someone's life, liberty, or property under a criminal law so vague that it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement." *Johnson v. United States*, — U.S. —, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2556 (2015) (citing *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 357–358 (1983)). "The

prohibition of vagueness in criminal statutes 'is a well-recognized requirement, consonant alike with ordinary notions of fair play and the settled rules of law,' and a statute that flouts it 'violates the first essential of due process.'" *Johnson*, -- U.S. -, 135 S. Ct. at 2556-57 (quoting *Connally v. General Constr. Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926)).

This Court has further recognized that unconstitutional vagueness claims "also implicate the provisions of W.Va. Const. art. III, sec. 14, that states in part: 'In all such [criminal] trials, the accused shall be fully and plainly informed of the character and cause of the accusation ....'" State v. Bull, 204 W. Va. 255, 261, 512 S.E.2d 177, 183 (1998).

While statutes are presumed to be constitutional, "[i]t is generally recognized that in construing an ambiguous criminal statute, the rule of lenity applies which requires that '[p]enal statutes must be strictly construed against the State and in favor of the defendant." State ex rel. Morgan v. Trent, 195 W. Va. 257, 262, 465 S.E.2d 257, 262 (1995) (quoting Syl. pt. 3, State ex rel. Carson v. Wood, 154 W.Va. 397, 175 S.E.2d 482 (1970)). The rule of lenity is intended to prevent "expansive judicial interpretations [that] may create penalties for offenses that were not intended by the legislature." State v. Brumfield, 178 W.Va. 240, 246, 358 S.E.2d 801, 807 (1987). The Supreme Court of the United States observed that the rule of lenity "serves to ensure both that there is fair warning of the boundaries of criminal conduct and that legislatures, not courts, define criminal liability." Crandon v. United States, 494 U.S. 152, 158 (1990).

As discussed herein, W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) is unconstitutionally vague and so standardless that it violates the most basic essence of the due process clause embodied within both our State and Federal Constitutions.

#### A. Standard of Review

"The constitutionality of a statute is a question of law which this Court reviews *de novo*," Syl. Pt. 1, *State v. Rutherford*, 223 W. Va. 1, 672 S.E.2d 137 (2008). "The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is *de novo*[,]" Syl. Pt. 1, *Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 197 W.Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996), meaning that this Court will "give plenary consideration to the legal issues that must be resolved to answer the question" certified by the circuit court. *Michael v. Appalachian Heating, LLC*, 226 W.Va. 394, 398, 701 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2010).

B. The Circuit Court Correctly Found that W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) is Unconstitutionally Vague Because It is Unclear Who It Applies To—Individuals Who are Personally Using a Controlled Substance Along with an Overdoser or Individuals Who are Physically Present with an Overdoser.

Criminal statutes must be clear. The Supreme Court of the United States has recognized that "the terms of a penal statute creating a new offense must be sufficiently explicit to inform those who are subject to it what conduct on their part will render them liable to its penalties . . . ."

Connally v. Gen. Const. Co., 269 U.S. 385, 391 (1926). The Connally Court further explained that a "statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men [or women] of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law." Id. (citations omitted). Along the same times, this Court has held:

A criminal statute must be set out with sufficient definiteness to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is prohibited by statute and to provide adequate standards for adjudication.

Criminal statutes, which do not impinge upon First Amendment freedoms or other similarly sensitive constitutional rights, are tested for certainty and definiteness by construing the statute in light of the conduct to which it is applied. Syl. Pt. 1 & 3, State v. Flinn, 158 W.Va. 111, 208 S.E.2d 538 (1974).

Since *Flinn*, criminal statutes have been "properly subjected to careful scrutiny, to ensure that they are not so vague or broad that they improperly include, impair, punish, or chill protected or desirable behavior." *State v. Bull*, 204 W. Va. 255, 262, 512 S.E.2d 177, 184 (1998). This Court has further recognized that

There is no satisfactory formula to decide if a statute is so vague as to violate the due process clauses of the State and Federal Constitutions. The basic requirements are that such a statute must be couched in such language so as to notify a potential offender of a criminal provision as to what he should avoid doing in order to ascertain if he has violated the offense provided and it may be couched in general language.

Syl. Pt. 1 of State ex rel. Myers v. Wood, 154 W.Va. 431, 175 S.E.2d 637 (1970).

Applying these principles to the case at bar, W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) does not provide adequate notice of what is required and what is prohibited. At the forefront, the statute fails to identify the category of persons to which it applies. "The vagueness may be from uncertainty in regard to persons within the scope of the act[.]" Winters v. New York, 333 U.S. 507, 515 (1948) (citing Lanzetta v. State of New Jersey, 306 U.S. 451 (1939)). In this vein, the pertinent portion of statute reads: "Any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical assistance . . . ."

The language adopted by the Legislature gives rise to two entirely different readings as to whom the statute is directed: 1) individuals who are personally using a controlled substance alongside or together with an overdoser; and 2) individuals, who are *not* personally using a controlled substance, but who are physically present when an overdose occurs. Stated otherwise, does W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) require proof that the individual charged was also using a controlled substance with the overdoser or does it require proof that the individual charged was

only physically present with the overdoser? This uncertainly in the statute makes it impossible for an average person to know who has a duty to render aid and who does not.

At the February 21, 2020 hearing, the circuit court recognized the differing, yet reasonable, interpretations of the statute:

THE COURT: But doesn't the statute require that he [the defendant] is participating in the drug use?

MS. DECHRISTOPER: It doesn't say that the defendant needs to be using controlled substances. He needs to be engaged in the use of controlled substances. Right. Like I think that would encompass someone – taking someone to buy drugs. I think it would encompass someone participating in the drug use. I think it would encompass someone with someone who is engaging in drug use. And like I said, there isn't any direct evidence of drug use, but certainly I think that there could be circumstantial evidence of that.

THE COURT: And you just actually illustrated a problem with the statute because when I read it, I read it the other way. But I understand how you could read it your way....

(App. 186-187).

"A statute is ambiguous if it is susceptible of two or more constructions or of such doubtful or obscure meaning that reasonable minds might be uncertain or disagree as to its meaning." State v. Woodrum, No. 18-1043, 2020 WL 2820379, at \*5 (W. Va. May 29, 2020) (citations and quotations omitted). See also, Crockett v. Andrews, 153 W.Va. 714, 718, 172 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1970) ("Ambiguity is a term connoting doubtfulness, doubleness of meaning or indistinctness or uncertainty of an expression used in a written instrument."). This Court has previously found that "dueling, but reasonable, interpretations are indicative of the statute's ambiguity." United Services Automobile Ass'n. v. Lucas, 233 W. Va. 68, 73, 754 S.E.2d 754, 759 (2014).

To further illustrate the ambiguity in W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b), the term "use" is utilized in subsection (a) to mean ingestion or consumption. W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(a) states

"[a]ny person who knowingly and willfully delivers a controlled substance ... for an illicit purpose and the use, ingestion or consumption of the controlled substance ... proximately causes the death of a person using, ingesting or consuming the controlled substance "is guilty of a felony. (emphasis added). The term "use" in subsection (b) should also be given the same meaning it has in subsection (a) of W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416. "When two statutes relate to the same general subject, and the two statutes are not in conflict, they are to be read *In pari materia*." Syl. Pt. 2, *Tug Valley Recovery Ctr.*, *Inc. v. Mingo Cty. Comm'n*, 164 W. Va. 94, 261 S.E.2d 165 (1979); See also Young v. State, 241 W. Va. 489, 826 S.E.2d 346 (2019).

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