FILE COPY



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 20-0234

TIMOTHY MICHAEL CONNER, II,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent.

DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE

THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA'S
RESPONSE BRIEF

On Certified Questions from the
Circuit Court of Monongalia County
Case No. 20-F-105

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

GORDON L. MOWEN, II
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, WV 25301
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
State Bar No. 12277
Email: Gordon.L.Mowen@wvago.gov
Counsel for the State of West Virginia

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b) is a narrow statute which employs plain, unambiguous language. Contrary to Petitioner’s claims, the statute is not unconstitutionally vague, nor is it susceptible to multiple interpretations. By its plain terms, “[a]ny person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical

assistance for such other person when the other person suffers an overdose of the controlled substance or suffers a significant adverse physical reaction to the controlled substance and the overdose or adverse physical reaction proximately causes the death of the other person, is guilty of a felony[.]” *Id.*

Petitioner’s contention that this statute may be read to include individuals who merely share a close proximity to the overdoser would require reading words into the statute that are not there and would violate this Court’s rules of statutory construction. *See* Syl. Pt. 8, *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Morrissey*, 236 W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863, 865 (2014) (“‘A statute, or an administrative rule, may not, under the guise of ‘interpretation,’ be modified, revised, amended or rewritten.’”); Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Osborne v. United States*, 211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002) (“It is presumed the [L]egislature had a purpose in the use of every word, phrase and clause found in a statute[.]”). There is no language in the statute from which any reasonable person could infer that the statute itself applies to mere passersby or any other bystander. Instead, to fall within the scope of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b), such individual **must** be actually engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with the overdoser.

Petitioner’s second argument—his claim that the statute fails to provide an adequate standard for adjudicating what it means to “seek medical assistance”—is equally unavailing. The phrase is not ambiguous. Even if it were, Petitioner’s analysis falls short. This Court has long-recognized that it will interpret ambiguous language in a criminal statute, and, where such interpretation does not violate constitutional principles, the statute will be upheld. In the event this Court deems the phrase “seek medical assistance” ambiguous, because the purpose of the statute is plain, and the legislative intent apparent, this Court can—and should—define “seek medical assistance” to mean “contacting 9-1-1, a poison control facility, a healthcare facility, or any first

responder (e.g., law enforcement, fire departments), either directly or indirectly.” Such a definition is supported by the text of the statute, case law, and in-line with virtually every jurisdiction that has enacted similar legislation.

For these reasons, this Court should answer the first certified question in the negative and the second in the affirmative.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

By Order entered May 21, 2020, this Court set the case for oral argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure for the September 2020 Term of Court. Given the purpose of Rule 20, this case is appropriate for a signed opinion.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case concerns the interpretation of a statute—West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b)—which is reviewed *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax Dep’t of W. Virginia*, 195 W. Va. 573, 466 S.E.2d 424 (1995) (observing that interpretation of a statute present a purely legal question and is subject to *de novo* review); *see also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 197 W. Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996) (“The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is *de novo*.”). “When a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, the statute should not be interpreted by the courts, and in such case it is the duty of the courts not to construe but to apply the statute.” Syl. Pt. 5, *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Morrissey*, 236 W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863, 865 (2014) (quoting Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. General Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, V.F.W.*, 144 W. Va. 137, 107 S.E.2d 353 (1959)). “Judicial interpretation of a statute is warranted only if the statute is ambiguous and the initial step in such interpretative inquiry is to ascertain the legislative intent.” Syl. Pt. 7, *Liberty Mut. Ins.*

Co., 236 W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863 (quoting Syl. Pt., *Ohio County Comm'n v. Manchin*, 171 W. Va. 552, 301 S.E.2d 183 (1983)).

ARGUMENT

1. **The phrase “Any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another” is not unconstitutionally vague.**

West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b) criminalizes the failure to seek medical assistance for someone who overdoses in a limited number of circumstances:

Any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical assistance for such other person when the other person suffers an overdose of the controlled substance or suffers a significant adverse physical reaction to the controlled substance and the overdose or adverse physical reaction proximately causes the death of the other person, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned for not less than one year nor more than five years

W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b) (emphasis added).

The animating thrust of Petitioner’s first argument is that the preceding bolded language in subsection (b) is ambiguous. (Pet’r’s Br. at 8-9). According to Petitioner, this language can be read to apply to individuals who are engaged in the use of an illicit substance *and* to those who are simply “physically present” with an overdoser, such as someone “attending a concert or sporting event and happens to be in some degree of proximity to a fellow spectator who is suffering an overdose[.]” (Pet’r’s Br. at 8, 12). Petitioner’s claims are misplaced. As discussed below, the statute plainly and unambiguously applies to an individual who is *engaged* in the illegal use of a controlled substance *with another person*. It encompasses “user-user” situations and those engaged in the “use” of a drug with the overdoser, such as someone who sells or gives the controlled substance to the overdoser. The statute, however, plainly does not include passersby or individuals who are simply in close proximity to the overdoser. Both Petitioner’s and the circuit court’s determinations otherwise are meritless.

A. Vagueness challenges and this Court's Rules of Statutory Construction.

“‘[T]he right of the Legislature to create and define crimes and to regulate their prosecution is extremely broad[.]’” *State v. Smith*, No. 19-0143, 2020 WL 3406467, at *6, ___ S.E.2d ___, ___ (W. Va. June 16, 2020) (quoting Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *State ex rel. Cogar v. Kidd*, 160 W. Va. 371, 234 S.E.2d 899 (1977)). Nonetheless, criminal statutes must “be couched in language so as to notify a potential offender . . . as to what he [or she] should avoid doing in order to ascertain if he [or she] has violated the offenses provide and it may be couched in general language.” *State v. Bull*, 204 W. Va. 255, 262, 512 S.E.2d 177, 184 (1998) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *State ex rel. Myers v. Wood*, 154 W. Va. 431, 175, S.E.2d 637 (1970)). If a criminal statute fails to meet this threshold, then it violates the due process clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article III, Section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution. *Id.* at 262, 512 S.E.2d at 184; *see also Kidd*, 160 W. Va. at 376–77, 234 S.E.2d at 902 (“The Legislature is required to define a criminal offense with some particularity. Otherwise, it may be unconstitutionally vague.”). “There is no satisfactory formula to decide if a statute is so vague as to violate the[se] due process clauses[.]” Syl. Pt. 2, in part, *State v. Blair*, 190 W. Va. 425, 438 S.E.2d 605 (1993). Instead, a criminal statute need merely provide “sufficient definiteness to give a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice that his contemplated conduct is prohibited by statute and to provide adequate standards for adjudication.” Syl. Pt. 6, *State ex rel. Morgan v. Trent*, 195 W. Va. 257, 465 S.E.2d 257 (1995) (internal citations and quotations omitted).

In other words, “vagueness challenges seek to vindicate two principles of due process: fair notice by defining prohibited conduct so that such behavior can be avoided, and adequate standards to prevent arbitrary and discriminatory law enforcement.” *State v. James*, 227 W. Va. 407, 419, 710 S.E.2d 98, 110 (2011) (citing *Grayned v. City of Rockford*, 408 U.S. 104, 108 (1972)).

When gauging whether statutory language comports with these principles:

courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the principle of the separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative and executive branches. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt.

Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. James*, 227 W. Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer*, 149 W. Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965)).

Against this backdrop, when evaluating the constitutionality of a statute, this Court employs well-established rules of statutory construction. First and foremost, “[w]here the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation.” Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Elder*, 152 W. Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). *Cf. Davis Mem’l Hosp. v. W. Virginia State Tax Com’r*, 222 W. Va. 677, 678, 671 S.E.2d 682, 683 (2008) (“A statute that is ambiguous must be construed before it can be applied.”) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Farley v. Buckalew*, 186 W. Va. 693, 414 S.E.2d 454 (1992)); *see also* Syl. Pt. 5, *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Morrissey*, 236 W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863 (2014) (“When a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, the statute should not be interpreted by the courts, and in such case it is the duty of the courts not to construe but to apply the statute.”). That is, a court need only read—not interpret—an unambiguous statute. Syl. Pt. 4, *Liberty Mut. Inc. Co.*, 236 W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863 (“A statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect.”). Bearing these canons in mind, this Court has cautioned that “[a] statute, or an administrative rule, may not, under the guise of ‘interpretation’ be modified, revised,

amended or re-written.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Consumer Advocate Div. of Pub. Serv. Comm’n v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 182 W.Va. 152, 386 S.E2d 650 (1989).

B. The phrase employs plain and unambiguous language and applies to those “engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance”—which includes “user-user” scenarios—but does not include individuals who merely share close proximity to the overdoser.

The scope of West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b)—the category of persons who fall within the statute—is unambiguous. The statute employs easily-understood language, which gives citizens fair notice of how to comport their conduct to the strictures of the law. It provides, in relevant part, that “any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical assistance for such other person when the other person suffers an overdose . . . is guilty of a felony.” W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416. Thus, Person A will be guilty of a felony where Person A, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with Person B, fails to seek medical assistance for Person B when Person B suffers from an overdose. *Id.*

Parsing out application of this statute upon the two groups of individuals identified by Petitioner in his Brief confirms this understanding. Petitioner argues that the statute can be interpreted to include two groups of people: “1) individuals who are personally using a controlled substance alongside or together with an overdoser; and 2) individuals, who are *not* personally using a controlled substance, but who are physically present when an overdose occurs.” (Pet’r’s Br. at 9).¹

The first category of people identified by Petitioner—“individuals who are personally using a controlled substance alongside or together with an overdoser”—unequivocally fall within

¹ Similarly, the circuit court believed—mistakenly—that the statute would apply to individuals who are simply nearby. (Cert. Order at 4). As discussed herein, such an interpretation cannot be squared with the plain language of the statute.

the ambit of this statute. When two individuals (say, Person A and Person B) are engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance and Person B suffers from an overdose, Person A is guilty of a felony under West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b) where he or she fails to seek medical assistance for Person B. *Id.* (“[A]ny person whom while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical assistance for such other person when the other person suffers an overdose . . . is guilty of a felony.”). This type of “user-user” scenario clearly falls within the scope of statute.

The notion that this statute also applies to individuals who have no connection to the illegal use of the controlled substance—Petitioner’s proposed second class of individuals—finds no support in the language of the statute. To the contrary, the statute clearly requires that Person A actually be “engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance” with Person B. W. Va. Code § 60A-4-416(b). By its plain and unambiguous terms, the statute does *not* apply to someone who is merely in close proximity to the overdoser, such as a passersby or, using Petitioner’s hypothetical, a spectator at a concert or sporting event who sees someone overdose. (*See* Pet’r’s Br. at 12). Such hypothetical person is not “*engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another*,” and to interpret the statute to include this hypothetical individual would either require ignoring words that are there (“engaged . . . with another”) or reading words into the statute that are not—something this Court will not do. Syl. Pt. 8, *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 236 W. Va. 615, 760 S.E.2d 863 (“‘A statute, or an administrative rule, may not, under the guise of ‘interpretation,’ be modified, revised, amended or rewritten.’”) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Consumer Advocate Div. v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 182 W. Va. 152, 386 S.E.2d 650 (1989)); Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Osborne v. United States*, 211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002) (“It is presumed the [L]egislature had a purpose in the use of every word, phrase and clause found in a statute[.]”).

Simply put, the position that this statute can apply to someone who simply shares some sort of proximity with the overdoser finds no support in the language of this statute. Instead, to fall within its scope, a person must first be “engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance.” Concluding that the statute applies to people who are simply near the overdoser ignores the statutory language itself.

C. The statute also applies to “seller-user” scenarios and those individuals otherwise engaged in the “use” of a controlled substance with another.

In addition to the “user-user” scenario outlined above, it is evident from the Legislature’s use of the phrase “while engaged in the use of an illegal substance with another” that West Virginia Code § 60A-4-416(b) also includes any individual who makes “use” of the controlled substance and is present when the consumer of the drug overdoses. This plain language necessarily includes “seller-user” and “provider”- or “procurer”-user situations where the user suffers from an overdose in the presence of such individual(s). The relevant statutory language is:

Any person who, while engaged in the illegal use of a controlled substance with another, who knowingly fails to seek medical assistance for such other person when the other person suffers an overdose of the controlled substance.

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